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Defendants Beechwood Re (in Controllership) s/h/a Beechwood Re Ltd. (“BRE”), B 

Asset Manager, L.P. (“BAM”), Beechwood Bermuda International Ltd. (“BBIL”), Beechwood 

Re Investments, LLC (“BRILLC,” and together with BRE, BAM, and BBIL, “the Beechwood 

companies”), Illumin Capital Management, LP (“Illumin”), Mark Feuer, Scott Taylor, and Dhruv 

Narain respectfully submit this memorandum of law in support of their motion to dismiss 

plaintiff Senior Health Insurance Company of Pennsylvania’s (“SHIP”) complaint in its entirety 

as to Feuer, Taylor, Narain, and Illumin, and partially as to the Beechwood companies for failure 

to state a claim under Rules 9(b), 12(b)(6), and 12(f) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

SHIP attempts to convert what is quintessentially a breach of contract action into an 

assortment of quasi-contract and tort claims by invoking colorful language and stale press about 

Platinum Partners, a formerly highly-regarded hedge fund in which the Beechwood companies 

made certain investments.  But SHIP’s transparent repackaging of its breach of contract claims is 

squarely prohibited under black-letter law.  Moreover, SHIP’s quasi-contract and tort claims – 

resting largely on group pleading, conclusory assertions, and innuendo – are wholly inadequate 

as a matter of law and therefore should be dismissed.  Additionally, the Court should strike 

SHIP’s improper attempt to assert punitive damages for its claims. 

Between May 2014 and January 2015, SHIP entered into three Investment Management 

Agreements with each of BBIL, BRE, and BAM, and a “side letter” with BRILLC.  Under these 

agreements (collectively, the “IMAs”), the Beechwood companies invested hundreds of millions 

of dollars of SHIP’s insurance reserves and guaranteed SHIP an investment return of 5.85%, 

with the respective Beechwood companies receiving the balance of any additional returns over 

the 5.85% threshold as performance fees.   

Stripped of its hyperbole and rhetoric, SHIP’s complaint alleges that the Beechwood 
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companies breached their contractual obligations under the IMAs by: (a) failing to deliver the 

promised investment returns; (b) failing to invest SHIP’s assets in accordance with the governing 

investment guidelines; and (c) taking performance fees to which they were not entitled (because, 

inter alia, the Platinum-related investments were supposedly overvalued). 

Based on these same allegations, SHIP also asserts non-contract claims for unjust 

enrichment, gross negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, fraudulent inducement, fraud, 

constructive fraud, three civil RICO violations, and civil conspiracy.  These claims are all 

impermissibly duplicative of SHIP’s breach of contract claims and are wholly insufficient for a 

host of additional reasons.  Among them: 

 SHIP fails to allege the existence of any non-contractual duty between itself and any 
Defendant to support its breach of fiduciary duty claim (Point III); 

 SHIP’s fraud claims violate the group-pleading doctrine and Rule 9(b)’s particularity 
requirements, as SHIP fails to allege with specificity for each representation and 
omission who made or failed to make it; when it was or should have been made; to 
whom it was or should have been made; why it was material and misleading; who 
specifically relied upon it; why that reliance was justified; and what damages resulted 
from such reliance (Points IV-VI);  

 SHIP’s civil RICO claims – added to seek treble damages – are barred by the RICO 
amendment to the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”), which 
precludes the assertion of any civil RICO claims based in whole or in part on 
securities fraud.  Here, each of the alleged predicate RICO acts involve fraudulent 
misrepresentations relating to the purchase or valuation of securities (Point VII); 

 SHIP’s civil conspiracy claim is not cognizable in New York (Point VIII); and 

 SHIP’s claims against Narain and Illumin should be dismissed for several unique 
reasons that further undercut SHIP’s claims against them, including that the contracts 
underlying all of the claims were executed long before Narain joined BAM as an 
employee, and years before Illumin – his company – ever existed. 

Moreover, all of SHIP’s tort claims fail for a more basic reason.  SHIP claims that it was 

somehow misled about the connection between the Beechwood companies and Platinum, 

including Platinum co-founder Mark Nordlicht, and the extent to which the Beechwood 
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companies would be investing in Platinum-controlled funds or companies.  However, the very 

documents SHIP references in its complaint squarely undermine the fiction that SHIP was 

hoodwinked.  For example, Nordlicht, himself, signed the side letter to the BAM IMA, and the 

only valuation report SHIP cites in the complaint 

  It is 

only in hindsight – two years after Platinum’s alleged fraud was widely reported – that SHIP 

now contends that it would not have entered into or continued in the IMAs had it been aware of 

the Beechwood companies’ alleged connection to Platinum. 

In sum, all of SHIP’s non-contract claims should be dismissed against all Defendants.  

And, since SHIP does not assert any contract claims against Feuer, Taylor, Narain, or Illumin, 

SHIP’s complaint should be dismissed in its entirety against each of them.1 

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS 

Factual Background 

In the early 2000s, the long-term care (“LTC”) insurance market became increasingly 

unprofitable due to increasing medical costs for the aging U.S. population, causing insurers, like 

SHIP, to stop writing new LTC business and to look for opportunities to reinsure their current 

LTC business in order to allocate their capital to other, more profitable areas.  (Compl. ¶ 40.)2 

  

                                                 
1 While the Beechwood companies are confident that the facts will conclusively demonstrate that 
they did not breach any provision of the IMAs, or, if there was a technical breach, that it was 
consented to or ratified by SHIP, such claims are not ripe for dismissal on a motion to dismiss. 
2 Factual allegations in the complaint are taken as true solely for purposes of this motion.  The 
Complaint is Exhibit A to the accompanying Declaration of Steven H. Holinstat, dated October 
15, 2018 (the “SHH Decl.”). 
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Feuer and Taylor had significant experience in the insurance business, having worked for 

two decades at both Merrill Lynch & Co. and Marsh & McLennan.  (SHH Decl. Ex. B(12-13).)3  

They founded the Beechwood companies to help insurance companies address their LTC 

business problem, believing that they could more profitably administer LTC policies by actively 

managing the healthcare costs of insured individuals.  The Beechwood company model included 

a reinsurance side (headed up by BRE) to manage LTC policies the Beechwood companies 

would procure, and an investment management business (headed up by BAM) to invest the 

insurance premiums to support the payment of LTC claims.   

Defendant David Levy, who came to BAM from Platinum, initially led the investment 

side of the Beechwood business.  The Beechwood companies never hid Levy’s ties to Platinum.  

Rather, they affirmatively highlighted them in their marketing materials, including those 

referenced in SHIP’s complaint, noting that Levy had “served as Deputy [CIO] at Platinum 

Partners Value Arbitrage Fund, L.P. [“PPVA”],” where he “directly managed over $250 million 

in capital and overs[aw] over $1 billion in total investments.”  (SHH Decl. Ex. B(9).)   

As BAM’s CIO, Levy had the responsibility and authority to invest SHIP’s assets in 

accordance with the investment guidelines in the IMAs.  (Compl. ¶¶ 53, 55.)  Levy left BAM in 

late 2014 for Platinum.  In January 2016 – over a year after Levy left Beechwood, and almost 

exactly one year after SHIP executed the last of the IMAs – BAM hired Narain as its CIO.  (Id. 

¶¶ 19, 56.)  Narain is not alleged to have any prior involvement in or relationship with the 

Beechwood companies or Platinum or to have any ownership interest in either.  Narain 

established Illumin as a separate company in January 2017.  (Id. ¶ 194.) 

  

                                                 
3 Documents, such as Ex. B, are either referenced in or clearly relied upon in the complaint.  
(See, e.g., Compl. ¶ 58.) 
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SHIP’s Involvement from the Outset   

In 2013, before the Beechwood companies had secured their first reinsurance contract, 

SHIP was introduced to Beechwood though SHIP’s affiliate Fuzion Analytics, Inc. (“Fuzion”), 

with which BRE had partnered to administer the LTC business the Beechwood companies 

planned to acquire.  (Id. ¶ 11.)  Notably, SHIP and Fuzion had overlapping employees, including 

Brian Wegner, the then-president and CEO for both SHIP and Fuzion.  (Id. ¶ 43.)  SHIP was thus 

intimately familiar with the Beechwood companies’ business from these early interactions. 

The IMAs  

Because of “the distressed nature of SHIP’s book of business,” BRE declined to reinsure 

SHIP’s LTC claims.  (Id. ¶12.)  Instead, it offered to make the investment side of the business 

available to SHIP through the IMAs, which SHIP readily accepted.  (Id.)   

From May 2014 to January 2015, SHIP authorized the Beechwood companies to invest a 

total of $270 million of SHIP’s assets under three IMAs, one each with BRE, BAM, and BBIL, 

and a two-page “side letter” with BRILLC.  (Id. ¶¶ 24 & 81-120; SHH Decl. Exs. C-F.)  The 

IMAs contemplated that the Beechwood companies would invest SHIP’s capital in various assets 

(mainly senior secured loans) and that SHIP would be guaranteed an annual investment return of 

5.85%.  If the annual return for any IMA account exceeded 5.85%, the Beechwood companies 

could retain the excess as a performance fee.  Conversely, if the return fell below that amount, 

they would have to replenish the shortfall with assets from their own accounts.  (Id.) 

Each of the IMAs included clear and repeated disclaimers about the many risks involved 

in the Beechwood companies’ investments of SHIP’s assets.  For example, the IMAs clearly 

stated that the Beechwood companies “ma[de] no warranty, representation or guaranty (a) as to 

the performance of [SHIP’s] investments; (b) that the investment … advice or strategies will be 
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successful; [or] (c) that [SHIP]’s investment objectives will be met .…”  (SHH Decl. Exs. C-E.)  

Indeed, the BAM IMA devotes nine pages to identifying “Risk Factors and Conflicts of 

Interests,” the very first sentence of which warns SHIP that its investments will be “speculative 

and involve[] a high degree of risk.”  (Id. Ex. E(19) (emphasis added).)  Confirming SHIP’s 

understanding of these investment risks, SHIP represented to the Beechwood companies that it 

was an “accredited investor,” i.e., a sophisticated investor to whom a company can sell securities 

without having to register the securities with the SEC, and who “can bear the economic risk of 

investing in [such] securities.” 4  (Id. Exs. C-E.)   

For its part, SHIP readily acknowledges that it was kept apprised of how the Beechwood 

companies invested its assets.  For example, SHIP specifically mentions that in April 2015 a 

valuation report was sent to SHIP’s CFO that  

 

  (Compl. ¶ 136; SHH Decl. Ex. G(12).)  SHIP does not claim it objected  

 at the time    

The Platinum Fraud 

In June 2016, news reports broke about a potential fraud scandal involving Platinum and 

its principals, including Huberfeld, Nordlicht, and Levy.  On July 25, 2016, the Wall Street 

Journal ran a story that Platinum was under investigation by federal prosecutors and securities 

regulators for fraud.  (Compl ¶ 21.)  In December 2016, Nordlicht, Levy, and other Platinum-

related individuals were charged with securities fraud by the Department of Justice and the SEC.  

(Id. ¶ 16.)  In particular, the SEC complaint accuses Levy, Nordlicht, and other Platinum-related 

                                                 
4 See SEC Office of Investor Education and Advocacy, Investor Bulletin: Accredited Investors 
(Sept. 23, 2013), https://www.investor.gov/additional-resources/news-alerts/alerts-
bulletins/investor-bulletin-accredited-investors.  
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individuals of engaging in a scheme to defraud investors and prospective investors in Platinum-

managed funds through the overvaluation of assets and the concealment of severe cash-flow 

problems at one of Platinum’s signature funds.  (SHH Decl. Ex. H.)   

Although the government has been investigating Platinum’s activities since at least early 

2016, no Defendant has been indicted for any conduct or sued by any governmental agency in 

connection with Platinum’s alleged fraud, with the notable exception of Levy, who was at BAM 

for a brief period of time before returning to Platinum. 

In November 2016, SHIP asserted control over its investments, stripping the Beechwood 

companies of authority to act other than at SHIP’s “express direction.”  (Compl. ¶ 202.)  Now, 

two years after Platinum’s alleged fraud was revealed and over one and a half years after SHIP 

took control over its investments, SHIP brings this action against Defendants, alleging that they: 

(a) failed to deliver the promised investment returns; (b) failed to invest SHIP’s assets in 

accordance with the governing investment guidelines, including investments in “overvalued” 

Platinum-related investments; and (c) took performance fees to which they were not entitled.  

(Id. ¶¶ 18, 73.)   

APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD 

To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must satisfy Rule 8(a) by stating a claim for 

relief that is plausible on its face.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a); Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009).  “Where a complaint pleads facts that are ‘merely consistent with’ a defendant’s liability, 

it ‘stops short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitlement to relief.’”  Iqbal, 

556 U.S. at 678 (citation omitted).  Furthermore, “[t]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause 

of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.”  Id. (citation omitted). 

SHIP’s non-contract claims based on allegedly fraudulent conduct (e.g., unjust 

enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, and RICO) must also be plead with specificity under 
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Rule 9(b).  Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) (“In alleging fraud …, a party must state with particularity the 

circumstances constituting the fraud….”).5  To satisfy the specificity requirement, SHIP must 

“(1) specify the statements that [it] contends [are] fraudulent, (2) identify the speaker, (3) state 

where and when the statements were made, and (4) explain why the statements were fraudulent.”  

Mills v. Polar Molecular Corp., 12 F.3d 1170, 1175 (2d Cir. 1993). 

Moreover, it is well-settled that a party does not comply with Rule 9(b) when it engages 

in “group pleading” – making allegations against a group of defendants generally instead of 

pleading the specifics of a fraud claim against each defendant individually.  See id. at 1175; 

Javier v. Beck, 2014 WL 3058456, at *12 (S.D.N.Y. July 3, 2014).  Group pleading is improper 

because each defendant “is entitled to be apprised of the circumstances surrounding the 

fraudulent conduct with which he individually stands charged,” and “blanket references to acts or 

omissions by all defendants” fail to do so.  Fernandez, 222 F. Supp. 3d at 388.  

ARGUMENT 

At its core, this is a breach of contract case.  Nothing more.  SHIP alleges it entered into 

the IMAs, entrusting hundreds of millions of dollars of assets to the Beechwood companies, and 

that the Beechwood companies breached various provisions of the IMAs.  Despite clear authority 

in New York prohibiting a party from “repackaging” its breach of contract claims into tort, 

quasi-contract, and civil RICO claims, SHIP has done just that by asserting claims for unjust 

enrichment, gross negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, fraudulent inducement, fraud, 

                                                 
5 See, e.g., Fernandez v. UBS AG, 222 F. Supp. 3d 358, 388 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (applying Rule 9(b) 
to breach of fiduciary duty claims); Royal Host Realty, LLC v. 793 Ninth Ave. Realty, LLC, 192 
F. Supp. 3d 348, 357 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (applying Rule 9(b) to unjust enrichment claim); U.S. 
Capital Partners, LLC v. Stanwich Capital Advisors, LLC, 2015 WL 4388421, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. 
July 17, 2015) (applying rule 9(b) to common law fraud claims); Salzmann v. Prudential-Bache 
Sec., 1993 WL 77374, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 12, 1993) (applying Rule 9(b) to civil RICO and 
common law fraud claims). 
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constructive fraud, civil RICO, and civil conspiracy, all based on the same conduct underlying its 

breach of contract claims.  It is these duplicative claims that Defendants seek to dismiss in this 

motion.     

I. SHIP Fails to State a Cause of Action for Unjust Enrichment (Count XIII) 

SHIP alleges that “Defendants” were unjustly enriched “when they received and enjoyed 

the use of SHIP’s invested assets” and “collected Performance fees” they had not earned under 

the IMAs.  (Compl. ¶ 330.)  This claim fails for multiple reasons. 

First, it is axiomatic that an unjust enrichment claim cannot be pled in the alternative to a 

breach of contract claim when, as is the case here, an express agreement (i.e., the IMAs) governs 

the plaintiff’s claim (see Counts I-III).  See SmartStream Techs., Inc. v. Chambadal, 2018 WL 

1870488, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 16, 2018).  This is true for both signatories and non-signatories 

alike.  Vitale v. Steinberg, 764 N.Y.S.2d 236, 239 (1st Dep’t 2003).6   

Second, SHIP’s complaint runs afoul of the group pleading doctrine as it refers generally 

to “Defendants” receiving and enjoying the use of SHIP’s assets, but fails to explain how any 

specific Defendant, particularly the individual Defendants, received or utilized SHIP’s assets.  

See Mills, 12 F.3d at 1175; Javier, 2014 WL 3058456 at *12; Fernandez, 222 F. Supp. 3d at 388. 

II. SHIP Fails to State a Cause of Action for Gross Negligence (Count XII) 

SHIP’s claim that “Defendants” negligently performed the IMAs also fails as a matter of 

law, as it is duplicative of SHIP’s breach of contract claims (Counts I-III).  In addition, under 

New York law, claims based on negligent or grossly negligent performance of a contract are not 

cognizable.  Pacnet Network Ltd. v. KDDI Corp., 912 N.Y.S.2d 178, 180 (1st Dep’t 2010). 

                                                 
6 This claim is notably deficient against Illumin, which was formed in 2017, after SHIP had 
retaken control of its investments, and could not be unjustly enriched by performance fees that 
preceded its existence. 
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III. SHIP Fails to State a Cause of Action for Breach of Fiduciary Duty (Count IV) 

SHIP further claims that all Defendants breached fiduciary duties they supposedly owed 

to SHIP.  This claim is baseless for a number of reasons. 

First, the claim against Illumin should be dismissed because SHIP’s complaint does not 

mention Illumin at all in this count, much less identify any alleged duty owed by Illumin to SHIP 

or how such duty was supposedly breached.  Rather, SHIP makes a one-line assertion that 

“Illumin effectively served as an alter ego to Beechwood” (Compl. ¶ 194), but a purely 

conclusory statement that an entity is an alter ego of another entity is insufficient to survive a 

motion to dismiss.  Waite v. Schoenbach, 2010 WL 4456955, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 29, 2010).7 

Second, as to the Beechwood companies, New York law clearly provides that where, as 

here, an express contract (the IMAs) governs the relationship between the parties, a plaintiff 

alleging breach of fiduciary duty must set forth allegations “apart from the terms of the contract” 

that create a relationship of higher trust than would arise from the IMAs alone.  MashreqBank, 

psc v. ING Grp. N.V., 2013 WL 5780824, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 25, 2013) (emphasis added).  In 

other words, if the breach of fiduciary duty allegations are “based upon the same facts and 

theories” as SHIP’s breach of contract claim or “encompassed within . . . the requirement 

implicit in all contracts of fair dealings and good faith,” they will be dismissed as duplicative.  

See, e.g., Brooks v. Key Tr. Co. Nat’l Ass’n, 809 N.Y.S.2d 270, 272 (3d Dep’t 2006) (affirming 

dismissal because allegations about defendants’ self-dealing, conflicts of interest, and portfolio 

mismanagement were “either expressly raised in plaintiff’s breach of contract claim or 

encompassed within the contractual relationship by the requirement implicit in all contracts of 

                                                 
7 Moreover, an alter-ego claim based on fraud, as here, is subject to Rule 9(b)’s heightened 
pleading standard, which SHIP’s conclusory allegation falls far short of satisfying.  See In re 
Currency Conversion Fee Antitrust Litig., 265 F. Supp. 2d 385, 425-26 (S.D.N.Y. 2003). 
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fair dealings and good faith”).   

Here, SHIP has not alleged any facts apart from the terms of the IMAs to support its 

breach of fiduciary duty claims against the Beechwood companies.  To the contrary, each of its 

fiduciary allegations references the terms of the IMAs or SHIP’s Investment Policies 

incorporated therein.  (See Compl. ¶¶ 85, 93, 101, 109, 117, 125.)  Indeed, SHIP’s breach of 

fiduciary duty allegations explicitly overlap with its breach of contract claims.  (Id. ¶ 145 

(“BAM’s use of SHIP’s assets to enrich Platinum . . . constitutes a breach of the BAM IMA, 

including . . . the fiduciary duties owned by each of the Defendants to SHIP….”).) 

Third, SHIP’s claim against the individual Defendants based on their status as officers of 

the Beechwood companies fares no better.  (Id. ¶ 248.)  It is well-settled that an individual’s 

status as an officer or director of a company does not establish a personal fiduciary duty towards 

its customers.  In re Refco Inc. Sec. Litig., 826 F. Supp. 2d 478, 512 (S.D.N.Y. 2011).  Instead, 

SHIP must allege facts giving rise to the inference that it had a fiduciary relationship with each 

of the individual Defendants personally, and make specific allegations as to the nature of the 

fiduciary relationship, when and how it arose, and how it was breached.  See Lunsford v. Farrell 

Shipping Lines, Inc., 1991 WL 150596, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. July 26, 1991).  SHIP’s complaint rests 

simply on the individual Defendants’ corporate positions and contains none of these required 

allegations.  See, e.g., Krys v. Butt, 486 F. App’x 153, 156 (2d Cir. 2012) (affirming dismissal 

where complaint “failed to indicate that there was anything about [officer’s] role as a corporate 

official that created a personal relationship of trust and confidence”). 

Lastly, SHIP’s complaint engages in improper group pleading by generally referring to 

“Defendants’” assurances about how “Beechwood would invest SHIP’s assets,” without 

specifying what each specific Defendant is alleged to have done to breach his or its respective 

Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 62   Filed 10/15/18   Page 17 of 32



 

12  
 

fiduciary duty. 

IV. SHIP Fails to State a Cause of Action for 
Fraudulent Inducement of the IMAs (Count V) 

SHIP next contends that it was fraudulently induced to enter into the IMAs based on a 

number of misrepresentations and omissions.  “To sustain a claim for fraudulent inducement, 

there must be a knowing misrepresentation of material fact [or a material omission], which is 

intended to deceive another party and to induce them to act upon it, causing injury.”  Sokolow, 

Dunaud, Mercadier & Carreras, LLP v. Lacher, 747 N.Y.S.2d 441, 446 (1st Dep’t 2002).  

SHIP’s claims are baseless for a multitude of reasons. 

A. The Claim Against Narain and Illumin Should Be Dismissed 
Because Neither Was Involved in the Execution of the IMAs 

Initially, it is outrageous that SHIP even asserts this claim against Illumin and Narain.  

Narain is not alleged to have been employed by any Beechwood company at the time the IMAs 

were executed, and Illumin did not exist.  (Compl. ¶¶ 19, 194.)  And SHIP also has not alleged 

any material misrepresentations made by Narain or Illumin in connection with the IMAs.  See 

Mills, 12 F.3d at 1175 (affirming dismissal of securities fraud claims for statement made after 

the contracts were signed).     

B. SHIP Fails to Plead a Viable Claim Based on Fraudulent Omissions 

SHIP contends that it was fraudulently induced to enter into the IMAs based on a number 

of allegedly material omissions, including that it was allegedly not told:  

 by “Defendants” about “Platinum’s close connections to and control over 
Beechwood” and Platinum’s financial distress (Compl. ¶¶ 20, 76-77); 

 by Feuer, Taylor, and Levy that Platinum would supposedly “control” investment of 
SHIP’s assets contributed under the IMAs (id. ¶ 65);  

 by “Defendants” that they “intended to place SHIP’s assets into investments that were 
highly speculative, opaque, and not adequately secured” (id. ¶ 73); and  
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 by “Defendants” that they intended to convert SHIP’s assets to be used by Platinum 
and individuals controlling Beechwood and Platinum in a manner fundamentally 
inconsistent with the safe and conservative portfolio they promised would result in a 
guaranteed return (id. ¶¶ 73-75, 78).  

None of these alleged omissions are actionable. 

First, a fraudulent omission is only actionable if the defendant had an affirmative duty to 

disclose the information to the plaintiff.  See SNS Bank, N.V. v. Citibank, N.A., 777 N.Y.S.2d 62, 

66 (1st Dep’t 2004) (“[A]n omission does not constitute fraud unless there is a fiduciary 

relationship between the parties.”).  Here, SHIP does not allege – nor is it the case – that it had a 

fiduciary relationship with any Defendant prior to the execution of the IMAs.   

Second, to properly plead a fraudulent omission under Rule 9(b), SHIP must allege: (1) 

the specific omission; (2) who was responsible for the failure to disclose; (3) the context of the 

omission and the manner in which it was misled; and (4) what each Defendant obtained through 

the fraud.  Soroof Trading Dev. Co. v. GE Fuel Cell Sys., LLC, 842 F. Supp. 2d 502, 513 

(S.D.N.Y. 2012).  Here, in violation of the group pleading doctrine and Rule 9(b), SHIP fails to 

plead which Defendant should have made the disclosures or when.  See Odyssey Re (London) 

Ltd. v. Stirling Cooke Brown Holdings Ltd., 85 F. Supp. 2d 282, 294 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) 

(dismissing fraud claim where plaintiff had not “distinguished which of the six parties … was 

specifically responsible for the failure to disclose”), aff’d, 2 F. App’x 109 (2d Cir. 2001).  SHIP 

also provides no detail as to the context of the supposed omissions, how it was misled by them, 

or even to what they refer.  Allegations of Platinum “connections” and “control” are simply too 

vague, leaving Defendants to speculate as to what SHIP believes should have been disclosed, by 

whom, and when – precisely what Rule 9(b) seeks to avoid. 

Third, certain alleged omissions, such as how Defendants supposedly intended to invest 

SHIP’s assets to be received under the IMAs, concern future performance and are therefore not 
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actionable.  See Fin. Structures Ltd. v. UBS AG, 909 N.Y.S.2d 45, 48 (1st Dep’t 2010) 

(statements of future intent to comply with a contract are subsumed within a claim for breach of 

contract); Laing Logging, Inc. v. Int’l Paper Co., 644 N.Y.S.2d 91, 93 (3d Dep’t 1996). 

Finally, by failing to allege what diligence, if any, SHIP conducted with respect to the 

Beechwood companies before entrusting them to invest hundreds of millions of dollars, SHIP, as 

an accredited investor, has not sufficiently alleged that it reasonably relied on any omissions by 

“Defendants.”  Under New York law, “sophisticated business people have a heightened duty to 

use all means available to verify the information, and use their sophistication to conduct due 

diligence.”  Solomon Capital, LLC v. Lion Biotechnologies, Inc., 2018 WL 3872281, *4 (N.Y. 

Sup. Ct. Aug. 15, 2018).  If a party fails to allege that it conducted due diligence (as SHIP has 

failed to do here) in ascertaining all material facts, it cannot later complain to have justifiably 

relied upon another party’s failure to disclose such facts.  See also Frati v. Saltzstein, 2011 WL 

1002417, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 14, 2011) (plaintiffs could not walk away from their accredited 

investor status when they failed to allege that they reviewed the fund documentation or 

performed any research prior to making their investment”). 

Here, SHIP does not allege that it made any inquiry about the ownership of the 

Beechwood companies prior to executing the IMAs.  Indeed, although SHIP knew that the 

Beechwood companies were owned by nineteen family trusts identified as “Beechwood Trust 

No. 1” through “Beechwood Trust No. 19” (Compl. ¶ 50), SHIP does not allege it made any 

inquiry to determine the identity of the trusts’ beneficiaries before executing the IMAs to 

determine the connection, if any, to Platinum.  Moreover, SHIP’s own allegations confirm that it 

knew of but was uninterested in Platinum’s connections to the Beechwood companies, as the 

BRILLC side letter was signed by Platinum founder Nordlicht.  (SHH Decl. Ex. F.)  Having 
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failed to allege any modicum of due diligence, SHIP cannot claim to have justifiably relied on 

any statements or omissions regarding ownership of the Beechwood companies.  See Ortho-

Clinical Diagnostics Berm. Co. v. FCM, LLC, 2017 WL 2984023, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. July 6, 2017), 

aff’d, 2018 WL 3133943 (2d Cir. June 26, 2018). 

C. SHIP Fails to Plead a Viable Claim Based on Fraudulent Statements 

SHIP further argues that it was fraudulently induced to enter into the IMAs based on a 

number of allegedly material misstatements, including statements:  

 by “Defendants,” including Feuer, Taylor, and Levy about the ownership of the 
Beechwood companies and that that certain Platinum employees were senior officers 
of the Beechwood companies (Compl. ¶¶ 63-64); 

 by “Beechwood,” Feuer, and Taylor about the Beechwood companies’ proposed 
investment strategy, e.g., their “conservative investment strategy,” “credit focused 
investment strategy,” efforts to obtain “superior adjusted returns,” and “strong culture 
of risk management and transparency” (id. ¶¶ 2, 13, 57-59, 63, 66, 70);    

 by “Beechwood” and Taylor about the Beechwood companies’ use of “best in class 
third party administration, audit, and valuation services” (id. ¶ 60); and  

 by Feuer and Taylor about the experience of the Beechwood companies’ team, 
including Levy (highlighting his experience at Platinum) and Feuer and Taylor 
(highlighting their respective prior insurance experience at Marsh & McLennan, 
Merrill Lynch, and McKinsey & Company), including their experience in managing 
insurance businesses (id. ¶¶ 61-65). 

None of these alleged representations support a fraudulent inducement claim. 

First, SHIP nowhere contends that these alleged representations about Feuer’s, Taylor’s, 

or Levy’s background and prior experience are false, which they are not, and thus they cannot as 

a matter of law serve as the basis for a fraudulent inducement claim.  See Altayyar v. Etsy, Inc., 

731 F. App’x 35, 38 (2d Cir. 2018). 

Second, the bulk of the allegedly improper representations concern the Beechwood 

companies’ proposed investment strategy.  (Compl. ¶¶ 2, 13, 57-59, 63, 66, 70.)  All of these 

vague and generalized allegations constitute classic puffery, which similarly cannot form the 
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basis of any fraudulent inducement claim.  See, e.g., ECA & Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Tr. 

of Chi. v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187, 205-06 (2d Cir. 2009); DeBlasio v. Merrill Lynch 

& Co., 2009 WL 2242605, at *19 (S.D.N.Y. July 27, 2009).  Indeed, SHIP even refers to such 

statements collectively as part of the Beechwood companies’ “sales pitch.”  (Compl. ¶ 63.) 

Moreover, representations about how SHIP’s assets would be invested under the IMAs 

concern future performance, and New York law is clear that a claim that a defendant made an 

insincere promise about its future intent to perform under a contract gives rise only to a breach of 

contract claim.  See Fin. Structures Ltd., 909 N.Y.S.2d at 48; Integra FX3X Fund, L.P. v. 

Deutsche Bank, AG, 2016 WL 1169514, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2016) (statements about how 

defendant would make margin calls was a non-actionable statement of future performance under 

the parties’ written agreement). 

Third, the representations are improperly attributed generally to all or multiple defendants 

and thus violate the group pleading doctrine and particularity requirements of Rule 9(b).  See 

U.S. Capital Partners, LLC, 2015 WL 4388421 at *4 (dismissing fraud claims where complaint 

did not “attribute any one representation to any one individual”); Suez Equity Inv’rs, L.P. v. 

Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 95 (2d Cir. 2001) (complaint must “specify the statements 

[plaintiff] claims were false or misleading, give particulars as to the respect in which plaintiff 

contends the statements were fraudulent, state when and where the statements were made, and 

identify those responsible for the statements” (citation omitted)). 

Fourth, these allegations fail to meet Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading requirements.  For 

example, the allegation that “Defendants,” including Taylor, Feuer, and Levy, represented that 

certain Platinum employees were senior officers of the Beechwood companies does not identify 

which employees are the subject of such alleged misrepresentations, when, or in what context, 
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making a defense impossible.    

Fifth, SHIP could not have been fraudulently induced to enter into the IMAs based on 

allegations concerning the Beechwood companies’ proposed investment approach, strategy, or 

types of investments to be made under the IMAs as those agreements contain express provisions 

governing such issues.  Indeed, each IMA states that it represents the “entire agreement” between 

the parties; addresses in detail how SHIP’s assets would be invested, including, for example, in 

loans to below-investment-grade companies; and highlights the multiple different ways that 

SHIP’s investments would be subject to various “risks associated with investing in securities and 

commodities,” including specifically warning SHIP that its investments would be “speculative 

and involve[] a high degree of risk.”  (SHH Decl. Exs. C-E.)   In light of these warnings and 

disclaimers, SHIP could not reasonably rely on representations to the contrary (which, as noted, 

are also non-actionable puffery).  See, e.g., In re Integrated Res., Inc. Real Estate Ltd. P’ships 

Sec. Litig., 851 F. Supp. 556, 569 (S.D.N.Y. 1994) (plaintiffs’ reliance on “oral representations 

that these investments were safe and conservative” was not reasonable where Memoranda 

warned that the investments involved a high degree of risk”). 

Further, aside from the disclosures in the IMAs, it is inherently implausible that SHIP, as 

an accredited investor, did not appreciate that the 5.85% guarantee and performance fee structure 

necessarily meant that the Beechwood companies’ investments could not be conservative.  

Indeed, the BAM IMA explicitly warned SHIP that the performance fees paid to BAM may 

create an incentive for BAM to make investments that are “more speculative or subject to a 

greater risk of loss than would be the case if no such Performance Fee arrangement existed.”  

(SHH Decl. Ex. E(¶ 12(f)).)  Relying on any purported assurances as to the general 

“conservative” nature of “Beechwood’s” investment strategy in executing the IMAs was thus 
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inherently unreasonable.  See, e.g., In re Integrated Res., Inc. Real Estate Ltd. P’ships Sec. Litig., 

851 F. Supp. at 569; Granite Partners, L.P. v. Bear, Stearns & Co., 17 F. Supp. 2d 275, 289 

(S.D.N.Y. 1998) (reliance by sophisticated investor on alleged misrepresentations regarding 

“bearishness” of securities “neither justified nor reasonable as a matter of law”). 

In any event, SHIP, as a sophisticated investor, could not have reasonably relied on any 

of these alleged representations since it fails to allege what, if any, due diligence it conducted 

with respect to the Beechwood companies before entrusting them to invest hundreds of millions 

of dollars of SHIP’s assets.  See Solomon Capital, LLC, 2018 WL 3872281, *4; UST Private 

Equity Inv’rs Fund, Inc. v. Salomon Smith Barney, 733 N.Y.S.2d 385, 386 (1st Dep’t 2001). 

V. SHIP Fails to State a Cause of Action for Fraud (Count VI) 

After executing the IMAs, SHIP contends that “Defendants” made “numerous false 

representations” with the “intent of causing SHIP not to terminate the IMAs or any investments 

after they were executed or otherwise interfere with Defendants’ scheme.”  (Compl. ¶¶ 265-66).   

As a preliminary matter, SHIP’s failure to identify the “numerous false representations” on 

which it bases this claim and who made them violates the group pleading doctrine and Rule 9(b), 

and is alone a basis for dismissal.8  In any event, SHIP’s fraud claim appears to be based on 

statements: 

 by “Beechwood” in financial reports submitted by Feuer, Taylor, and Levy that 
showed “inflated and false valuations” for SHIP’s investments (Id. ¶¶ 4, 18, 67, 78, 
132-34, 136); and 

                                                 
8 See Crossen v. Bernstein, 1994 WL 281881, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. June 23, 1994) (pleading that 
required court to guess as to where alleged misrepresentations were made “completely fail[e]d to 
[apprise] … each of the individual defendants of the misrepresentations he is alleged to have 
made”); Davis v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, 2016 WL 1267800, at *10 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 2016) 
(pleading that requires “the Court and Defendant[s] to speculate as to the bases for their claims 
… fails to meet the plausibility standard required under Twombly and Iqbal”). 
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 by “Beechwood” about the “soundness of the proposed investment” in AGH 
Parent (id. ¶ 182). 

For the reasons discussed below, none of these supposed misrepresentations support a 

fraud claim. 

First, SHIP’s entire fraud claim is legally deficient since it is duplicative of its breach of 

contract claims.  The alleged misrepresentations all relate to the Beechwood companies’ 

investment of SHIP assets that, according to SHIP, were entrusted to the Beechwood companies 

through and related to the IMAs.  (Id. ¶ 1.)  See MashreqBank, psc, 2013 WL 5780824, at *6 

(dismissing complaint where plaintiffs did “not allege any damages . . . not also attributable to 

Defendants’ alleged breach of contract”).  Moreover, “[u]nder New York law, misrepresentations 

and omissions intended to conceal a breach of contract do not transform an action for breach of 

contract into an action for fraud,” which is exactly what SHIP charges Defendants with doing 

here to supposedly prevent it from terminating the IMAs.  See Mia Shoes, Inc. v. Republic 

Factors Corp., 1997 WL 525401, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 21, 1997).    

Second, none of the alleged misrepresentations are pled with the requisite specificity 

under Rule 9(b) and, like virtually all of SHIP’s claims they violate the group pleading doctrine.  

For example, while SHIP’s complaint references multiple “reports” containing overvalued and 

false valuations of SHIP’s assets (see Compl. ¶¶ 4, 18, 67, 78, 132-34, 136), only paragraph 136 

provides any detail about any specific report or investments.  And, SHIP alleges in that 

paragraph that it is a Duff & Phelps’ report submitted to SHIP by Elliot Feit – both non-parties to 

this action.9  Moreover, while SHIP generally alleges that this report “significantly overvalued” 

                                                 
9 While SHIP accuses Feit of sending the Duff & Phelps report on behalf of “Beechwood” 
(Compl. ¶ 136), the only possible entity that could have made the supposed misrepresentations 
therein is   (SHH Decl. Ex. G.)    
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statement of fact), aff’d, 955 N.Y.S.2d 332 (1st Dep’t 2012); Tonzi v. Nichols, 2009 WL 

2922910, at * 5 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Sept. 3, 2009) (“Defendant’s alleged representations that the 

investment was safe, secure, and without risk are merely opinion, not actionable statements of 

fact”), aff’d, 907 N.Y.S.2d 921 (4th Dep’t 2010).   

Third, these claims are particularly hollow against Narain and Illumin.  Plaintiffs do not 

allege that Narain was involved with the Beechwood companies until January 2016 – long after 

the IMAs were executed.  (Compl. ¶¶ 19, 56.)  Narain was only an employee, without any 

ownership interest in the Beechwood companies, and he is not alleged to have taken any actions 

outside the scope of his employment as CIO.  See Maki v. Travelers Cos., 44 N.Y.S. 3d 220, 222 

(3d Dep’t 2016).  Moreover, the fraud claims against Illumin – which Narain formed months 

after SHIP retook control over its investments – are baseless, as is SHIP’s passing and 

conclusory alter ego allegation for the reasons discussed in Point III above.  

VI. SHIP Fails to State a Cause of Action for Constructive Fraud (Count VII) 

To state a claim for constructive fraud, SHIP must allege (a) a material misrepresentation 

or omission of a fact, (b) knowledge of that fact’s falsity, (c) a fiduciary duty owed by each 

Defendant, (d) justifiable reliance by SHIP, and (e) damages.  Integra FX3X Fund, L.P., 2016 

WL 1169514 at *4.  Since the Beechwood companies’ duties to SHIP are limited to its 

contractual duties under the IMAs, SHIP’s claim for constructive fraud is entirely duplicative of 

its breach of contract claims against the Beechwood companies.  See Poplar Lane Farm LLC v. 

Fathers of Our Lady of Mercy, 449 F. App’x 57, 58 (2d Cir. 2011).  SHIP’s claim against the 

individual Defendants fares no better as none of them owed any duty to SHIP (contractual or 

otherwise).  SHIP’s constructive fraud claim also fails because the alleged misrepresentations or 

omissions are not actionable for the reasons discussed in Points IV-V above. 

VII. SHIP Fails to State a Cause of Action for Any RICO Violations (Counts VIII-X) 
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SHIP’s attempts to recast its breach of contract claims as claims for securities fraud under 

RICO are equally baseless as a matter of law.   

First, such claims are duplicative of SHIP’s breach of contract claims, “which cannot be 

transmogrified into [] RICO claim[s] by the facile device of charging that the breach was 

fraudulent, indeed criminal.”  Helios Int’l S.A.R.L. v. Cantamessa USA, Inc., 2013 WL 3943267, 

at *9 (S.D.N.Y. July 31, 2013) (citation omitted).  Tellingly, SHIP invokes the IMAs as a source 

of Defendants’ alleged misrepresentations to “provide secure, highly collateralized, and well 

protected investments.”  (Compl. ¶¶ 289(a), 306(a).)  Moreover, SHIP has not alleged any 

damages distinct from those it seeks for breach of contract, which dooms its RICO fraud claims.  

See Bigsby v. Barclays Capital Real Estate, Inc., 298 F. Supp. 3d 708, 717 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). 

Second, SHIP’s civil RICO claims are based on Platinum’s securities fraud and therefore 

cannot serve as predicate acts for civil RICO claims.  Section 1964(c) of the PSLRA explicitly 

bars any civil RICO action predicated on the purchase or sale of securities.  18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).  

This bar is broad and applies “if the alleged conduct could form the basis of a securities fraud 

claim against any party – be it against, or on behalf of, the plaintiff, defendants or a non-party – 

it may not be fashioned as a civil RICO claim.”  Zohar CDO 2003-1, Ltd. v. Patriarch Partners, 

LLC, 286 F. Supp. 3d 634, 644 (S.D.N.Y. 2017). 

SHIP’s alleged theory of RICO fraud is that the Beechwood companies induced it to 

contribute capital under the IMAs so that they could invest SHIP’s capital in Platinum assets.  

This is a mere regurgitation of the SEC’s allegations against Platinum in its civil complaint, 

which charges Platinum and affiliates with violating, among other things, §§ 17(a) and 10(b) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  Indeed, SHIP directly and repeatedly relies upon the SEC 

Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 62   Filed 10/15/18   Page 28 of 32



 

23  
 

complaint in setting out its RICO enterprise allegations.  (Compl. ¶¶ 204, 207, 209.)11  And, the 

law is clear that any conduct by Defendants to participate in or aid and abet Platinum’s fraud 

falls squarely within the scope of the RICO exclusion.  See Zohar, 286 F. Supp. 3d at 643. 

Third, the predicate RICO acts identified by SHIP are mail and wire fraud by Defendants 

in making representations about the Beechwood companies’ investment strategy for SHIP’s 

assets, sending allegedly inflated and fraudulent valuations of certain unidentified Platinum-

related investments, and concealing the ownership structure of the Beechwood companies.  

(Compl. ¶ 289.)  These allegations are woefully inadequate and certainly not sufficiently 

particularized as to each Defendant for the reasons discussed in Points IV-V above. 

Fourth, SHIP’s 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) claim fails because the complaint does not allege that 

any racketeering proceeds were invested in a separate enterprise.  See Globe Wholesale Tobacco 

Distribs. Inc. v. Worldwide Wholesale Trading Inc., 2007 WL 2826630, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 

28, 2007).  Rather, SHIP alleges that “defendants reinvested” in the alleged RICO enterprises to 

“perpetuate more injurious and illegal acts.” (Compl. ¶ 299.)   

Finally, SHIP’s 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) claim fails because it requires a violation of § 

1962(a), (b), or (c), which SHIP has not alleged.  Patrizzi v. Bourne in Time, Inc., 2012 WL 

4833344, at *6 (Oct. 11, 2012 S.D.N.Y. 2012).  Nor does SHIP provide specific factual 

allegations supporting an inference that Defendants entered into an agreement to facilitate the 

goals of the alleged enterprise.  Sanchez v. ASA Coll., Inc., 2015 WL 3540836, at *12 (S.D.N.Y. 

June 5, 2015). 

                                                 
11 Notably, the SEC has not sued any Defendant with the exception of Levy, who was at BAM 
for a brief period of time before returning to Platinum. 

Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 62   Filed 10/15/18   Page 29 of 32



 

24  
 

VIII. SHIP Fails to State a Cause of Action for Civil Conspiracy (Count XI) 

SHIP also attempts to assert a separate “civil conspiracy” claim against all Defendants, 

but New York does not recognize an independent tort of civil conspiracy.  Kirch v. Liberty 

Media Corp., 449 F.3d 388, 401 (2d Cir. 2006).  All conspiracy allegations may do is connect 

the actions of separate defendants to an actionable tort.  Id.  Here, SHIP’s civil conspiracy 

allegations are wholly conclusory, impermissibly pled against all Defendants without 

differentiation, and merely re-hash SHIP’s underlying fraud allegations.  See Gray & Assocs., 

LLC v. Speltz & Weis LLC, 2009 WL 416138, at *17 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Feb. 2, 2009) (dismissing 

civil conspiracy complaint as “merely repetitive” of alleged underlying torts).  They are also 

duplicative of SHIP’s breach of contract claim, and thus dismissible on that ground as well.  Id. 

IX. SHIP’s Punitive Damages Claims Should Be Dismissed or Stricken  

Lastly, SHIP’s claim for punitive damages on its breach of contract, breach of fiduciary 

duty, fraudulent inducement, fraud, constructive fraud, civil conspiracy, and gross negligence 

claims should be dismissed or stricken under Rules 12(b)(6) or 12(f).  It is well-settled in New 

York that “[p]unitive damages are not recoverable for an ordinary breach of contract as their 

purpose is not to remedy private wrongs but to vindicate public rights.”  Rocanova v. Equitable 

Life Assurance Soc’y of U.S., 634 N.E.2d 940, 943-44 (N.Y. 1994).  To state a claim for punitive 

damages where, as here, the claims arise from “conduct constituting, accompanying, or 

associated with a breach of contract,” SHIP must allege that its claim is: (a) actionable as an 

independent tort; (b) sufficiently egregious, i.e., displaying a high degree of moral turpitude and 

such wanton dishonesty as to imply a criminal indifference to civil obligations; (c) directed at 

SHIP; and (d) part of a pattern directed at the public generally so that punitive damages become 

necessary to vindicate public rights.  Id. at 342-43. 

As discussed above, SHIP has failed to assert any viable tort claims separate and apart 
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from its breach of contract claims.  Segal v. Cooper, 856 N.Y.S.2d 12, 13 (1st Dep’t 2008) 

(“Plaintiff’s demand for punitive damages should have been struck since his primary claim is 

contract-based and there is no allegation that defendants' conduct was directed at the public 

generally”).  Further, SHIP has not alleged any facts supporting an inference that any 

Defendants’ conduct comes near the level of egregiousness and wanton dishonesty for which 

punitive damages are applicable, nor has it alleged wrongful conduct directed at the public 

generally, as opposed to SHIP individually.  See, e.g., Tianbo Huang v. iTV Media, Inc., 79 F. 

Supp. 3d 458, 465 (E.D.N.Y. 2015) (distinguishing “a fraudulent scheme that allegedly affects 

the general public in some way” from “a fraud that targets the public”); Kunica v. St. Jean Fin., 

Inc., 1998 WL 437153, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 3, 1998) (striking punitive damages claim because 

alleged conduct did rise to level necessary to support punitive damages).   

CONCLUSION 

For all the foregoing reasons, SHIP has not asserted any viable causes of action against 

Defendants other than breach of contract, which SHIP asserts only against the Beechwood 

companies.  Accordingly, Counts Four through Thirteen and SHIP’s punitive damages claims 

should be dismissed with prejudice and the complaint dismissed in its entirety against Feuer, 

Taylor, Narain, and Illumin. 
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